IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

FILED

11/12/2024

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0305

No. DA 23-0305

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

NEIL DENNIS COLE,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County, the Honorable Leslie Halligan, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

TAMMY A. HINDERMAN
Division Administrator
DEBORAH S. SMITH
Assistant Appellate Defender
Office of State Public Defender
Appellate Defender Division
P.O. Box 200147
Helena, MT 59620-0147
debbiesmith@mt.gov
(406) 444-9505

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
STANDARDS OF REVIEW6
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT6
ARGUMENT7
The District Court imposed a mandatory-minimum fine of \$5,000 under a statute this Court has determined is facially unconstitutional. The District Court applied \$100 in credit for time served against the fine and suspended the remaining \$4,900 contingent upon successful completion of probation. The entire \$5,000 fine must be struck from the judgment because it lacks statutory authority.
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE
APPENDIX 16

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

$\underline{\mathbf{Cases}}$

City of Kalispell v. Salsgiver, 2019 MT 126, 396 Mont. 57, 443 P.3d 504 (en banc)
City of Whitefish v. Curran, 2023 MT 118, 412 Mont. 499, 531 P.3d 547 (en banc) passim
Griffith v. Kentucky, 479 U.S. 314, 107 S.Ct. 708, 93 L.Ed.2d 649 (1987)
State v. Arellano, 2024 MT 108, 416 Mont. 406, 549 P.3d 428
State v. Cleveland, 2014 MT 305, 377 Mont. 97, 338 P.3d 606
State v. Eaton, 2004 MT 283, 323 Mont. 287, 99 P.3d 8979
State v. Gibbons, 2024 MT 63, 416 Mont. 1, 545 P.3d 686 (en banc) passim
State v. Heafner, 2010 MT 87, 356 Mont. 128, 231 P.3d 108713, 14
State v. Ingram, 2020 MT 327, 402 Mont. 374, 478 P.3d 7999
State v. Lenihan, 184 Mont. 338, 602 P.2d 997 (1979)8
State v. Mingus, 2004 MT 24, 319 Mont. 349, 84 P.3d 658
State v. Reichmand, 2010 MT 228, , 358 Mont. 68, 243 P.3d 42313
State v. Stewart, 2012 MT 317 367 Mont. 503 291 P 3d 1187

State v. Whitehorn, 2002 MT 54, 309 Mont. 63, 50 P.3d 121
State v. Yang, 2019 MT 266
Teague v. Lane, 489 U.S. 288, 109 S.Ct. 1060, 103 L.Ed.2d 334 (1989)
Statutes
Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-201(2)(a) 8, 11, 12 Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-201(3)(b) 8 Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231(3) 4, 8 Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-403(2) 11 Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-401(1)(a) 1 Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-722(1) 8 Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) passim
<u>Constitutional Authorities</u>
Montana Constitution
Art. II, § 2210
<u>United States Constitution</u>
Amend. VIII

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The District Court imposed a mandatory-minimum \$5,000 fine on Neil Cole during sentencing, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) (2019). Subsequently, this Court held that § 61-8-731(3) (2019) is facially unconstitutional. Must the fine be struck from the judgment because it is unsupported by lawful statutory authority?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In June 2020, the State charged Neil Dennis Cole with one count of driving under the influence of alcohol or drugs – 4th offense, a felony, in violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-401(1)(a) (2019). (Doc. 3.) For more than two years, the parties cooperated to get Mr. Cole admitted into treatment court. Ultimately, their efforts were unsuccessful. (Docs. 11.1, 13, 14, 17, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 32, 33, 35, 36, 38, 39.) Finally, in October 2022, the parties reached a global plea agreement that disposed of the instant case on appeal, DC-20-349, and another case, DC-22-302. (Doc. 41.)

The plea agreement provided that Mr. Cole would plead guilty to the DUI charge in this case, and the State would move to dismiss DC-22-302 with prejudice at sentencing. (Doc. 41 at 1-2.) Among other

things, Mr. Cole agreed to pay "all fines, fees, and restitution ordered by the sentencing court according to a schedule" set by his probation officer in specified amounts, including the mandatory-minimum \$5,000 fine. (Doc. 41 at 6.) The District Court accepted Mr. Cole's guilty plea. (COP Tr. at 7-9.)

At sentencing, the District Court imposed the parties' agreed-upon sentence of a 13-month commitment to the Department of Corrections ("DOC"), followed by a five-year suspended sentence with a recommendation that Mr. Cole enter and successfully complete the Watch Program. (Sent. Tr. at 10-11, 12-13, attached hereto as App. A.) Following Defense Counsel's request to strike the fine based on Mr. Cole's inability to pay it, the District Court asked Mr. Cole questions about his financial situation. (Sent. Tr. at 8-10.) In the oral pronouncement, the District Court imposed the \$5,000 fine reduced by \$100 for credit for time served of one day and suspended "the remainder of the fine of \$4,900 based on his successful completion of the conditions of probation" and "continued good compliance." (App. A at 11-12;

¹ Additionally, the District Court dismissed DC-22-302 with prejudice. (App. A at 13.)

Sent. Tr. at 8.) The written judgment conforms with the oral pronouncement. (D.C. Doc. 47 at 2, 6, attached hereto as App. B.)

Mr. Cole timely appealed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In June 2020, the State charged Neil Cole with committing a felony DUI. After more than two years of unsuccessful attempts to enter Treatment Court, Mr. Cole entered into a plea agreement with the State to resolve the charge. (Doc. 41.) As part of the agreement, Mr. Cole agreed to pay certain fees and costs, as well as the \$5,000.00 mandatory-minimum fine. (Doc. 41 at 6-8.) Mr. Cole also agreed to waive his rights to appeal, post-conviction relief except for ineffective assistance of counsel, and sentence review. (Doc. 41 at 8.) Both Mr. Cole and his attorney signed the agreement. (Doc. 41 at 10-11.)

At the change of plea hearing, Mr. Cole pled guilty to "driving or being in physical control of a vehicle, a white Jeep, on a way of the State open to the public . . . while under the influence of alcohol and/or drugs and that this was a fourth of subsequent offense." (COP Tr. at 8 – 9.)

The District Court found Mr. Cole guilty of a felony DUI and ordered a presentence investigation ("PSI"). (COP Tr. at 9, 11.)

At sentencing, Mr. Cole was unsure how old he was. Eventually, everyone agreed Mr. Cole was born in 1956, making him 66 years old at the time. (Sent. Tr. at 4-5.) The District Court proceeded to review Mr. Cole's financial situation with him, observing he had agreed to pay \$450 in pretrial supervision costs. (Sent. Tr. at 6-7.) Mr. Cole explained he nets \$1,643/month in Social Security and needs to pay about \$300/month for auto insurance and a storage unit. (Sent. Tr. at 7-8.)

Notwithstanding the counseled consent to financial obligations in the written plea, Defense Counsel argued, "I took a note here to ask the Court to make a factual finding about his ability to pay it under 46-18-231(3)."² (Sent. Tr. at 8.) Counsel questioned Mr. Cole about his housing arrangements. Mr. Cole indicated he had been waiting two-and-a-half years for subsidized housing and hoped to be accepted into Clark Fork Riverside when he finished his 13-month term at Watch, where his rent would be one-third of his monthly income. (Sent. Tr. at 8 – 9.) Whereupon, Defense Counsel stated, "I guess, Judge, where I'm going with all this is the \$5,000 fine, to me, seems like a lot for Mr.

² Counsel did not indicate at that point what "it" was.

Cole, and I'm going to request that the Court strike all of it." (Sent. Tr. at 9.)

The District Court asked Mr. Cole whether imposition of the \$5,000 fine over the period of the judgment would be a hardship. Mr. Cole responded, "Yes, I do. I haven't bought any food because I –the food has to be for a month and will have to be added into that too." (Sent. Tr. at 9 – 10.) The District Court inquired if "other fees" would be a hardship, to which Mr. Cole responded, "It will have to be a little at a time, you know." (Sent. Tr. at 10.) Mr. Cole confirmed he could pay the \$450 pretrial supervision fees "over time." (Sent. Tr. at 10.)

The Prosecutor asked no questions of Mr. Cole. Nor did the Prosecutor argue Mr. Cole must pay the fees, costs, and fine included in the plea agreement. The Prosecutor did not object to the District Court's inquiry about Mr. Cole's ability to pay financial obligations or to Defense Counsel's request to strike the fine completely.

In pertinent part, during the oral pronouncement the District Court ruled:

I will impose the \$5,000 fine. I'll give him credit against it for \$100. I'll suspend the remainder of the fine of \$4,900 based on his successful completion of the conditions of

probation. I will not impose any other fees that are listed, but for the \$50 PSI fee. And I will impose the pretrial supervision fees of \$450. However, if he wishes to make application to that program for a reduction in those fees, he's certainly welcome to do that.

So, Mr. Cole, that will mean that I've suspended the \$4,900 in the fine based on you[r] continued good compliance. You will have an obligation of \$500 to pay over the term of the sentence. I hope that won't present an undue hardship. I do understand your limited means and also the uncertainty of your housing situation moving forward.

(App. A at 11 - 12. Accord App. B at 5 - 6, ¶¶ 28 - 29.)

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a criminal sentence for legality. *State v. Gibbons*, 2024 MT 63, ¶ 20, 416 Mont. 1, 545 P.3d 686 (*en banc*)

(citations omitted), *cert. denied* ___ U.S. ___, __ S.Ct. ___, 2024 WL 4427558. "A claim that a criminal sentence violates a constitutional provision is reviewed de novo." *Gibbons*, ¶ 20 (citation omitted).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court imposed a \$5,000 fine on Neil Cole, reduced it by credit for time served, and suspended the remainder of the fine contingent on Mr. Cole's successful completion of a five-year

probationary sentence. Pursuant to *Gibbons*, the fine is facially unconstitutional. It cannot be imposed later even if Mr. Cole's sentence is revoked. This Court should reverse the District Court, vacate the imposition and suspension of the illegal fine, and remand with instructions to amend the written judgment by striking the fine.

ARGUMENT

The District Court imposed a mandatory-minimum fine of \$5,000 under a statute this Court has determined is facially unconstitutional. The District Court applied \$100 in credit for time served against the fine and suspended the remaining \$4,900 contingent upon successful completion of probation. The entire \$5,000 fine must be struck from the judgment because it lacks statutory authority.

"A trial court's authority to impose sentences in criminal cases is defined and constrained by statute, and . . . a district court has no power to impose a sentence in the absence of specific statutory authority. . . . [A] sentence not based on statutory authority is illegal." City of Kalispell v. Salsgiver, 2019 MT 126, ¶ 35, 396 Mont. 57, 443 P.3d 504 (en banc) (citations, internal quotation marks omitted). "[T]he sentencing authority of a court exists solely by virtue of a statutory grant of power and therefore cannot be exercised in any manner not

specifically authorized. *State v. Lenihan*, 184 Mont. 338, 342, 602 P.2d 997, 1000 (1979)." *Gibbons*, ¶ 52 (internal quotation marks omitted).

In *Gibbons*, this Court held the fine required by Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) (2019) was facially unconstitutional. *Gibbons*, ¶ 66. The Court determined, "the mandatory minimum \$5,000 fine required by the sentencing statute, every time it is imposed, prevents a judge from considering constitutional and statutorily mandated factors and is, therefore, facially unconstitutional." *Gibbons*, ¶ 60. Further, the Court explained it was impossible to harmonize Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) with the constitutionally required proportionality analysis in § 46-18-231(3), because the Legislature disallowed such harmonizing by the explicit, mandatory language it used in § 61-8-731(3). *Gibbons*, ¶ 53.

Before deciding *Gibbons*, this Court ruled, over three dissenting justices, that a sentencing court possesses discretion pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-201(2)(a), (3)(b), "to suspend or otherwise order an alternative to the mandatory \$600 fine" in Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-722(1) (2019). *City of Whitefish v. Curran*, 2023 MT 118, ¶ 27, 412 Mont. 499, 531 P.3d 547 (*en banc*). Additionally, the Court determined the sentencing court abused its discretion by not recognizing its

authority to suspend the fine. *Curran*, ¶ 27. In reaching its holding, the majority and concurring opinions emphasized that Curran had not challenged the constitutionality of the mandatory-fine statute at sentencing in the municipal court, on appeal at the district court, or on appeal at the Montana Supreme Court. *Curran*, ¶¶ 21 and n.3 (majority op.), 31 (Shea, J., concurring).

By contrast, the three dissenting justices put forth, "Imposition of fines and fees and their enforcement cannot be considered in isolation without doing injustice to individuals when they are sentenced by the court." Curran, ¶ 32 (McKinnon, J., dissenting). The dissent rejected the notion that discretion could be exercised at the enforcement phase of sentencing because the DUI sentencing statute itself prohibited the exercise of any discretion when imposing a mandatory-minimum fine. Curran, ¶ 32. The dissent disagreed that State v. Mingus, 2004 MT 24, 319 Mont. 349, 84 P.3d 658, and State v. Ingram, 2020 MT 327, 402 Mont. 374, 478 P.3d 799, could be reconciled with State v. Eaton, 2004 MT 283, 323 Mont. 287, 99 P.3d 897, or State v. Yang, 2019 MT 266, 397, Mont. 486, 452 P.3d 897. Instead, the dissent emphasized:

Due process and equal protection principles ground a court's inquiry into the appropriateness of any penalty that is imposed. We have individualized sentencing in this country. In imposing a penalty, a sentencing court should consider the nature of the individual interest affected, the extent to which it is affected, the rationality of the connection between legislative means and purpose, and the existence of alternative means for effectuating the penological purpose. . . .

Monetary sanctions present fundamental challenges to the notion of fairness and equality when they are imposed without consideration of a defendant's ability to pay.

Curran, ¶¶ 38 - 39. In the dissent's view:

Failure to address indigency upon *imposition* of the fine—under the guise that inequities will be addressed through the manner in which the fine is *enforced*—produces a disparate impact on the impoverished individual and entrenches patterns of poverty and punishment, in sharp contrast to the indigent defendant's counterpart who can afford the fine.

Curran, \P 48 (emphasis added).

Less than a year after *Curran*, the Court considered a facial constitutional challenge to the mandatory-minimum fine in Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) (2019), under the excessive fines clause of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article II, Section 22 of the Montana Constitution. *Gibbons*, ¶ 63. Without addressing

Curran, the Court expressly overruled "Mingus to the extent it prevents a court from considering an offender's ability to pay prior to imposing any fine." Gibbons, ¶ 64. Further, the Court held, "Section 61-8-731(3), MCA, is facially unconstitutional to the extent that whenever the sentencing judge imposes a fine, the statute does not allow the judge to consider, before imposing the \$5,000 mandatory minimum, the proportionality factors protecting an offender from excessive fines." Gibbons, ¶ 66.

In the instant case, the District Court imposed the mandatory \$5,000 fine, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) (2019). It then reduced the fine by \$100 for credit for time served, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-403(2), and suspended the remaining \$4,900 contingent upon Mr. Cole's successfully completing probation, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-201(2)(a). *Gibbons* makes clear, however, that the upfront imposition of the mandatory-minimum DUI fine – not just the subsequent enforcement of it – is facially unconstitutional. Mr. Cole's fine cannot survive the Court's ruling in *Gibbons*.

Curran stands for the proposition that a sentencing court possesses discretion to suspend payment of a fine under § 46-18-

201(2)(a). But *Curran* does not authorize imposition of a facially unconstitutional fine that is suspended pending successful completion of probation. *Gibbons* holds that the fine required by § 61-8-731(3) (2019) – the exact same version of the fine at issue in the instant appeal – is unconstitutional in all its applications because the statute prohibits the sentencing court from reducing the fine below \$5,000 or waiving it completely, regardless of a defendant's ability to pay. *Gibbons*, ¶¶ 60, 64, 66.

It does not matter that Mr. Cole agreed to pay the \$5,000 fine in his plea agreement. When he signed the plea agreement, a \$5,000 minimum fine was mandated by *Mingus*. Later, in *Gibbons*, the Court declared the mandatory-minimum fine facially unconstitutional.

A defendant cannot acquiesce in "a sentence not authorized by law." *State v. Arellano*, 2024 MT 108, ¶ 16, 416 Mont. 406, 549 P.3d 428. Nor may a party seek "enforcement of an illegal, and therefore unenforceable, provision" in a plea agreement. *State v. Cleveland*, 2014 MT 305, ¶ 23, 377 Mont. 97, 338 P.3d 606. "[T]here can be no plea bargain to an illegal sentence." *Cleveland*, ¶ 25 (McKinnon, J., specially concurring). Sentencing conditions that lack statutory authority are

"illegal *ab initio*." Salsgiver, ¶ 43. "[A] party cannot acquiesce and tacitly accept a trial court's exercise of power that it does not have legal authority to impose." Salsgiver, ¶ 42.

Mr. Cole's appeal was pending when the Court issued its decision in Gibbons. Because his conviction is not yet final, Gibbons controls. "[A]ll defendants whose cases are pending on direct review or not yet final must be treated the same in the sense that they are all entitled to have newly announced constitutional rules applied to their cases." State v. Stewart, 2012 MT 317, ¶ 30, 367 Mont. 503, 291 P.3d 1187, citing Griffith v. Kentucky, 479 U.S. 314, 327—28, 107 S.Ct. 708, 715— 16, 93 L.Ed.2d 649 (1987); State v. Reichmand, 2010 MT 228, ¶¶ 11— 12, 358 Mont. 68, 243 P.3d 423. New substantive rules of constitutional interpretation should be given retroactive application. State v. Whitehorn, 2002 MT 54, ¶ 37, 309 Mont. 63, 50 P.3d 121, analyzing and applying Teague v. Lane, 489 U.S. 288, 310—12, 109 S.Ct. 1060, 1075—76, 103 L.Ed.2d 334 (1989).

When an illegal portion of a sentence cannot be corrected on remand, "the case should be remanded to the district court with instructions to strike the illegal conditions." *State v. Heafner*, 2010 MT

87, ¶ 11, 356 Mont. 128, 231 P.3d 1087. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the District Court's decision to impose a \$5,000 fine and suspend \$4,900 of it. It does not matter whether Mr. Cole successfully completes probation. The fine is facially unconstitutional and cannot be imposed even if Mr. Cole's suspended sentence is revoked. The Court should remand with instructions for the District Court to issue an amended judgment that strikes the fine completely.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Neil Cole respectfully requests the Court to reverse the District Court, vacate the \$5,000 fine in Mr. Cole's judgment, and remand with instructions for the District Court to issue an amended judgment without the \$5,000 fine.