#### 02/26/2025

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0305

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 23-0305

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

NEIL DENNIS COLE,

Defendant and Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County, The Honorable Leslie Halligan, Presiding

#### APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
CORI LOSING
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
Cori.losing@mt.gov

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

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The district court did not abuse its discretion when, as part of Cole's sentence, it imposed the mandatory minimum \$5,000 fine pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii). Cole, in his plea agreement, agreed that he had the ability to pay, and to the imposition of, the \$5,000 fine. In doing so, Cole did not

agree to an illegal sentence in light of *State v. Gibbons*, 2024 MT 63, 416 Mont. 1, 545 P.3d 686, because *Gibbons* held that Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) (2019)'s mandatory minimum fine was unconstitutional, with no mention of the constitutionality of Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019), the statute under which the district court imposed Cole's \$5,000 fine.

Moreover, Cole has not met his burden of establishing that Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019)'s \$5,000 minimum fine violates the Eighth Amendment and art. II, § 22, of the Montana Constitution. The plain language of Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019) supports that if the district court elects to impose a fine, the \$5,000 mandatory minimum fine is proportional in light of the conviction threshold requirements.

Cole's reliance on *Gibbons* does not support that Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019)'s \$5,000 fine is facially unconstitutional because this Court's decision in *Gibbons* is manifestly wrong. First, Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231 does not embody Monana's Excessive Fines Clause. Second, principles of statutory construction support harmonizing Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) (2019) with Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231. Third, Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) (2019)'s fine is proportional to the gravity of the offense. Fourth, consideration of a defendant's ability to pay, as part of a constitutional excessive fines analysis, constitutes an as-applied, not a facial, constitutional challenge.

Finally, the record supports Cole has the ability to pay the \$5,000 fine, and that the fine is not unconstitutional as-applied to Cole. Again, Cole agreed he had the ability to pay the \$5,000 fine. Nonetheless, before imposing the \$5,000 fine, the district court conducted a serious inquiry into Cole's ability to pay the fine. Based on his financial circumstances, the district court suspended the remaining portion of the fine. As a result, Cole cannot establish that the district court abused its discretion when it imposed the \$5,000 fine pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. \$61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019), or that imposition of the fine was disproportionate to his individual circumstances.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This Court reviews criminal sentences for legality. *Gibbons*, ¶ 20. A claim that a criminal sentence violates a constitutional provision is reviewed *de novo*. *Id*.

## **ARGUMENT**

I. Because Cole agreed to the \$5,000 fine in his plea agreement, and the \$5,000 fine imposed pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. 
§ 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019) has not been declared unconstitutional, Cole has waived appellate review of his sole claim.

Cole argues that because *Gibbons* held that the mandatory minimum fine imposed pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) (2019) was unconstitutional, Cole agreed to an illegal sentence when he agreed to pay the \$5,000 fine as stated

in the plea agreement. (Appellant's Br. at 12.) Cole is correct that a defendant cannot plead to an illegal sentence. *State v. Cleveland*, 2014 MT 305, ¶ 29, 377 Mont. 97, 338 P.3d 606. Cole's fine, however, was imposed pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019), which this Court has not declared unconstitutional. As such, Cole did not plea bargain to a sentence that the district court was not authorized to impose by law. *See Cleveland*, ¶ 29.

This Court has long held that it will not lend its assistance to an accused criminal in escaping the obligations of a plea bargain after accepting its benefits. *See, e.g., State v. Bowley*, 282 Mont. 298, 310, 938 P.3d 592, 599 (1997); *State v. Sattler*, 170 Mont. 35, 37, 549 P.2d 1080, 1081 (1976); *State v. Nance*, 120 Mont. 152, 166, 184 P.2d 554, 561 (1947). This Court, therefore, should affirm the district court's imposition of the \$5,000 fine because Cole agreed to its imposition in exchange for the State dismissing a subsequent 2022 felony DUI charge. (*See* Doc. 41 at 2.)

# II. Cole has not established that Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019) is facially unconstitutional.

Even if this Court reviews Cole's challenge to the district court imposing the \$5,000 fine, Cole has not established that the \$5,000 fine, imposed pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019), is facially unconstitutional.

A. Cole does not sufficiently argue that Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019)'s minimum \$5,000 fine is facially unconstitutional.

Cole does not explicitly argue that Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019)'s mandatory minimum \$5,000 fine is facially unconstitutional. Instead, Cole erroneously asserts his fine was imposed pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) (2019) and, therefore, was illegally imposed based on this Court's decision in *Gibbons*. In doing so, Cole does not argue that Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019)'s \$5,000 mandatory minimum fine is disproportionate to the gravity of the offense, rendering it facially unconstitutional under Montana's Excessive Fines Clause or the United States' Excessive Fines Clause. Nor does Cole argue that *Gibbons* applies to Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019)'s mandatory fine.

This Court "will not conduct legal research on behalf of a party or develop legal analysis that might support a party's position." *State v. Oliver*, 2022 MT 104, ¶ 42, 408 Mont. 519, 510 P.3d 1218 (internal quotations and citation omitted). Because Cole has failed to sufficiently allege that the \$5,000 fine imposed pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019) is facially unconstitutional, this Court should decline to review his claim. However, even if this Court construes Cole's discussion of *Gibbons* as sufficiently raising a facial constitutional challenge,

Cole has not, and cannot, establish that Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019)'s mandatory fine is disproportionate to the gravity of the offense.

B. Montana Code Annotated § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019) does not violate the Excessive Fines Clauses under the United States Constitution or the Montana Constitution.

"Legislative enactments are presumed to be constitutional." *In re S.M.*, 2017 MT 244, ¶ 10, 389 Mont. 28, 403 P.3d 324 (citation omitted). "[C]ourts should avoid constitutional issues whenever possible." *State v. Russell*, 2008 MT 417, ¶ 19, 347 Mont. 301, 198 P.3d 217 (internal quotations and citation omitted). "The party challenging the constitutionality of a statute has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that it is unconstitutional." *State v. Ber Lee Yang*, 2019 MT 266, ¶ 14, 397 Mont. 486, 452 P.3d 897 (citation omitted). To prevail on a facial challenge, the challenging party must show that "no set of circumstances exists under which the statute would be valid or that the statute lacks a plainly legitimate sweep." *Id.* (internal quotations and citations omitted).

The Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution and article II, section 22, of the Montana Constitution protect a defendant's right to be free from excessive fines. Proportionality is the touchstone of the Eighth Amendment's and Montana's Excessive Fines Clauses. Yang, ¶ 16 (citation omitted). The fine amount "must bear some relationship to the gravity of the offense that it is designed to punish." Id.

Thus, in order to establish that Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019)'s fine was facially unconstitutional, Cole would have to establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, that there is no set of circumstances under which Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019)'s mandatory minimum \$5,000 fine bears some relationship to a first felony DUI conviction. Cole cannot do so.

By its plain language, Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019)'s mandatory minimum \$5,000 fine is proportional. Montana Code Annotated § 61-8-731(1) (2019) requires, before imposition of the mandatory minimum \$5,000 fine, that the defendant, in relevant part, must have "any combination of three or more prior convictions under . . . 61-8-401, 61-8-406, or 61-8-465." In other words, the plain language of Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(1)(a)(iii) (2019) supports that the Legislature enacted a financial penalty range—\$5,000 to \$10,000—that is proportional to the gravity of the offense—felony DUI. Moreover, the penalty ranges, up to felony DUI, all increase incrementally in proportion to the number of offenses. Unless there is a passenger under the age of the 16 when the offense is committed, a first offense DUI is punishable within a fine range of \$600 to \$1,200, a second offense DUI is punishable within a fine range of \$1,200 to \$2,000, and a third offense DUI is punishable within a fine range of \$2,500 to \$5,000. Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-714(1)(a), (2)(a), (3)(a)

(2019). Continuing up the step ladder of increments of fines, a felony DUI follows suit: the fourth offense DUI has a fine range of \$5,000 to \$10,000.

Cole has not established that the fine range of \$5,000 to \$10,000 is disproportionate to an offender who, at a minimum, has committed four DUI offenses.

C. This Court should decline to extend *Gibbons* because this Court's decision in *Gibbons* is manifestly wrong, and, as such, should be overturned.

This Court should decline to extend *Gibbons* to Cole's case because *Gibbons* is manifestly wrong. "Stare decisis means 'to abide by, or adhere to, decided cases." *State v. Gatts*, 279 Mont. 42, 51, 928 P.2d 114, 119 (1996) (quoting *Black's Law Dictionary* 1406 (6th ed. 1990)). It "is a fundamental doctrine which reflects [this Court's] concerns for stability, predictability and equal treatment." *Gatts*, 279 Mont. at 51, 928 P.3d at 119 (citation omitted). "When it comes to interpretation of our Constitution, we place a high value on getting it right, because citizens must live with a bad decision unless we correct our mistake." *Gibbons*, ¶ 62. This Court is not constrained to follow precedent that was "badly reasoned or insufficiently reasoned." *Id.* Thus, stare decisis requires this Court to follow precedent unless the precedent is "manifestly wrong." *Formicove, Inc. v. Burlington N.*, 207 Mont. 189, 194-95, 673 P.2d 469, 472 (1983).

This Court should overrule *Gibbons* because it is manifestly wrong for four reasons: (1) Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231 is not an incorporation of Montana's Excessive Fines Clause; (2) the plain statutory language supports harmonizing Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231(3) with Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) (2019); (3) Mont. Code Ann. § 46-8-731(3) (2019)'s fine range is constitutionally proportional to the gravity of the offense; and (4) proportionality to the offender is more appropriately considered as an as-applied, not a facial, challenge under Montana's Excessive Fines Clause.

1. Neither the plain language nor the legislative history supports that Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231 was meant to embody Montana's Excessive Fines Clause.

Since its decision in *Yang* this Court has afforded Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231 considerable weight. In *Yang*, this Court addressed whether Mont. Code Ann. § 45-9-130(1)'s 35% drug market value fine was unconstitutional because it required district courts to impose the fine "without consideration of an offender's financial resources, the nature of the crime committed, and the nature of the burden the required fine would have on the offender." *Yang*, ¶ 9. This Court began its inquiry into the constitutionality of Mont. Code Ann. § 45-9-130(1) by reviewing the constitutionality of Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231(3), a statute not referenced by Mont. Code Ann. § 45-9-130(1) or challenged by Yang on appeal. *Yang*, ¶ 41 (J. Rice, dissenting).

As aptly noted in the dissenting opinion, this Court ultimately concluded that Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231(3) "embodies the Eighth Amendment such that other statutes must conform to it to also be constitutional." Yang, ¶ 41 (J. Rice dissenting) (citing Yang, ¶¶ 17-19). Through that lens, this Court held that Mont. Const. art. II, § 22 "requires that the sentencing judge be able to consider 'the nature of the crime committed, the financial resources of the offender, and the nature of the burden that payment of the fine will impose' before ordering the offender to pay the 35%-market-value fine contained in § 45-9-130(1), MCA." Id. ¶ 24 (quoting Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231(3)).

Relying on *Yang*, the *Gibbons* Court again, without any acknowledgment or analysis of the purpose for enacting Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231, elevated Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231 to the statutory equivalent of Montana's Excessive Fines Clause, concluding that "the Montana Legislature has effectuated [] federal and state constitutional protections against excessive fines by codifying the inquiry necessary to guarantee that a fine is proportional in § 46-18-231, MCA." *Gibbons*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In *State v. Tam Thanh Le*, 2018 MT 82, 387 Mont. 224, 392 P.3d 607, this Court reviewed the same constitutional challenge to the same statute it reviewed in *Yang*. Yet, in *Le*, this Court concluded, without mention of Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231, that Mont. Code Ann. § 45-9-130 did not violate Mont. Const. art. II, § 22 because that statute created a fine that was proportional to the gravity of the offense. *Le*, ¶¶ 13, 15. However, this Court did not overrule *Le* in *Yang*. *See Yang*, ¶ 24.

¶ 50. In support of its conclusion, this Court rationalized, without citation, that Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231:

is an enlightened response to the increasing punitiveness in the American approach to criminal justice, an acknowledgment that imposition of mandatory fines on impoverished defendants are unlikely to reduce future crime, and a recognition that the impact of mandatory minimum fines is disproportionate on families of poor defendants and minority communities, particularly those of color.

Gibbons, ¶ 54. Only by promoting Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231 to constitutional status was the *Gibbons* Court able to conclude that Mont. Code Ann. § 61-8-731(3) (2019) was facially unconstitutional under Montana's Excessive Fines Clause because it did not comply with Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231.

However, nothing in the legislative history supports the *Gibbons* Court's conclusion that the Legislature intended and enacted Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231 to be a constitutional protection against excessive fines. Rather, Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231 was enacted to authorize sentencing courts to punish offenders with fines instead of incarceration for certain offenses as long as the offender has the ability to pay the fine and the fine does not exceed \$50,000. Mont. S. Jud. Comm., Hr'g on S.B. 14 at 2-3 (Jan. 9, 1981); Mont. S. Jud. Comm., Hr'g on S.B. 14 (Jan. 13, 1981) at 4. Indeed, absent from the legislative history of Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-231 is any mention of mandatory fines, that fines are unlikely to reduce future crimes, or that the fines are disproportionate on families of poor or minority defendants. *See* Mont. S. Jud. Comm., Hr'g on S.B. 14, 47th Leg. Sess. (Jan. 9,

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